IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Plaintiff & Respondent,

VS.

STEVEN EDWARD GRAY

Defendant & Appellant.

After Decision by Court of Appeal, Second District, Div. Three Appeal Transferred from Appellate Division of Los Angeles Superior Court Appeal No. B236337; App. Div. No. BR048502; Trial Court No. C165383
Hon. Lawrence H. Cho, Judge

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Sherman M. Ellison (SBN 045102) **LAW OFFICES OF SHERMAN M. ELLISON**15303 Ventura Boulevard, 9th Floor
Sherman Oaks, California 91403

Tel: (818) 994-8888 Fax: (818) 780-8989

E-mail: sme@pacbell.net

Counsel for Petitioner

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

"Whether, in an automated red light traffic enforcement system prosecution, the 30-day warning notice period and the public announcement requirements -- pursuant to Vehicle Code § 21455.5(b) -- are 'intersection specific' or 'system general' requirements." Pet. for Rev., p. 1 (internal citations, brackets and footnotes omitted).

INTRODUCTION

California law allows municipalities to issue traffic citations to motorists that run red lights by using an Automated Traffic Enforcement System ("ATES"). Given the various risks associated with issuing citations through a computer (in lieu of a conventional citation issued by a police officer that personally observes the violation), the legislature has imposed numerous obligations on municipalities as conditions precedent for issuing ATES citations.

The instant Gray matter is a straight-forward case regarding "legislative intent", "statutory construction", the "rule of lenity" and the "public policy" to be served.

¹ This court expressed the specific issue addressed herein as: "Does Vehicle Code section 21455.5, subdivision (b), require a local jurisdiction only to provide one 30-day warning notice period prior to the initial installation of an automated traffic enforcement system, or is such notice required prior to the installation of ATES equipment at each additional intersection within the jurisdiction?"

However, the fundamental issue that needs to be resolved is whether the Automated Traffic Enforcement System's "enabling statutes" in Vehicle Code §§§ 21455.5, 21455.6 and 21455.7 are mandatory and/or merely permissive.

Example 1 - Vehicle Code § 21455.5(b): "[p]rior to issuing citations under this section, a local jurisdiction utilizing an automated traffic enforcement system shall commence a program to issue only warning notices for 30 days. The local jurisdiction shall also make a public announcement of the automated traffic enforcement system at least 30 days prior to the commencement of the enforcement program." (Vehicle Code § 21455.5, subdivision (b).)

The issue presented here is whether the prosecuting municipality, the City of Culver City, complied with these warning notices and public announcement requirements on an **intersection-specific basis** – i.e., the issuance of 30-days of warning notices and separate public announcement – in order to convict motorists cited in Culver City pursuant to an ATES at an intersection within its territorial jurisdiction.

Instead of providing the statutory requirements of 30-days of warning notices and a public announcement with respect to each intersection where Culver City installed photo red light camera systems (ATES), Culver City decided to eviscerate the statutory warning notice and public announcement requirements by merely providing a general notice in 1998 that it was implementing a red light camera program at one particular intersection (i.e., at Washington and La Cienega Boulevards). Conveniently taking the position that the warnings issued in 1998 regarding the ATES installed at that particular intersection should be sufficient to warn the public about the *subsequent* installation of cameras at numerous *other* intersections, Culver City failed to provide a separate warning and public announcement with respect to those various other intersections where an ATES was added after 1998.

Under Culver City's view, by issuing its warning in 1998 regarding the installation of an ATES at the Washington-La Cienega intersection, Culver City can perpetually add an ATES at every other intersection throughout its territories, without having to issue new warnings for those other, subsequently-added intersections. Neither the text of the statute, nor common sense allows a municipality to evade its statutory obligations by diluting, emasculating — and, in effect, revising — the statutory warning requirements in such a manner. While a municipality can certainly discharge its warning obligations by issuing a single warning identifying all intersections where an ATES has been installed as of the time of the public announcement, the municipality must issue a separate warning notice with respect to intersections where an ATES is subsequently added/installed.

Given the undisputed fact that Culver City did not issue any warnings after 1998 with respect to any other intersections (besides Washington and La Cienega), the citation issued in this case with respect to a different intersection – where the ATES was installed several years after 1998 – must be dismissed.

1111

1111

1111

////

Culver City decided Not To Require Warning Period At New Intersections/approach pursuant to Vehicle Code § 21455.5(b)

In Culver City's contract with Redflex Traffic Systems, Culver City unilaterally decided that it would not provide the 30-days of warning notices and/or public announcement at each new intersection activated into their ATES red light enforcement program.

Quoting from paragraph 19 of the Culver City-Redflex contract. (2 CT 269.) 2

"WARNING PERIOD/ENFORCEMENT PROCEDURES

19. Prior to issuing citations a 30-day warning period must commence (CVC 21455.5(a)(2)(b)).

c. The City does not require a separate and independent warning period for each new approach that goes live once the initial warning period has been completed." [Emphasis in original.]

/////
////
////
////
////
////

². Volume 2 of the Clerk's Transcript, at page 170.

Compare this decision by Culver City to avoid the 30-days of warning notices and public announcement on an intersection-specific basis - pursuant to Vehicle Code § 21455.5, subdivision (b) - with numerous other municipalities, including but not limited to the City of Los Angeles. ³

"8.0. WARNING PERIOD

There will be a 30-day warning period advertised Citywide upon activation of each new intersection. During this period, warning letters will be issued in lieu of citations. After the initial 30-day warning period, no further warnings at that intersection will be required. During the initial 30-day warning period of each new intersection, CONTRACTOR will not receive any fee or payment for that intersection." [Emphasis added.]

The entire contract between the City of Los Angeles and its supplier of the ATES system can be found at:

http://highwayrobbery.net/TrcDocsLosAngContr2006NestorRecd2010Dec29.pdf

³. Whereas, the City of Los Angeles has the "Warning Period" in its contract with Nestor/American Traffic Systems, as follows:

Example 2 - Vehicle Code § 21455.5(g)(1): Subdivision (g)(1) of § 21455.5 precludes the local jurisdiction from entering into a contract with a company that manufacturers or supplies the ATES equipment/computer, such as, Redflex Traffic Systems herein, where the contract permits a financial incentive/payment based upon the number of tickets issues or a percentage of the revenue generated by the ATES.

Subdivision (g)(1) is quoted as follows:

"A contract between a governmental agency and a manufacturer or supplier of automated enforcement equipment may not include provision for the payment or compensation to the manufacturer or supplier based on the number of citations generated, or as a percentage of the revenue generated, as a result of the use of the equipment authorized under this section."

Example 3 - Vehicle Code § 21455.7: Subdivision (a) and (b) of Vehicle Code § 21455.7 precludes and prohibits the local jurisdiction of setting the "yellow light change interval" below the minimum established by the California Department of Transportation.

Subdivision (b) and (c) are quoted as follows:

- "(a) At an intersection at which there is an automated enforcement system in operation, the minimum yellow light change interval shall be established in accordance with the Traffic Manual of the Department of Transportation.
- (b) For purposes of subdivision (a), the minimum yellow light change intervals relating to designated approach speeds provided in the Traffic Manual of the Department of Transportation are mandatory minimum yellow light intervals."

Pursuant to Vehicle Code § 21455.7, *supra*, the "minimum" yellow-light change-interval is established pursuant to the California Department of Transportation's Manual on Uniform Control Devices ("MUTCD"), found online at the Caltran's website, in Part 4 of the California MUTCD, entitled "Highway Traffic Signals", Section 4D.26 <u>Yellow Change and Red Clearance Intervals</u>, defining the **Standard** at Table 4D-102(CA).

* * * *

//// ////

QUERIES:

Are these ATES statutory provisions, supra -- to wit, . . .

[i] 30-days of warning notices and public announcement,

[ii] no contract with a provision for revenue payments to the contractor based upon number of citations and/or percentage of revenue and/or

[iii] complying with the "minimum yellow change interval" established by the California Department of transportation's traffic manual

... mandatory or permissive?

What is the consequence if a local jurisdiction fails to comply with these "enabling statutes"?

Does the failure to comply with the "enabling statutes":

[i] deny the local jurisdiction the authority to issue the ATES citation,

[ii] cause the citation to thereby be deemed improvidently issued and/or

[iii] provide the court with only the jurisdiction and power to dismiss?

////

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Factual Background

1. Gray's Issued Citation

On November 21, 2008, appellant Steven Gray was charged with an infraction for allegedly violating Vehicle Code 21453(a). (2 CT 170.) The citation was mailed to Gray based on an ATES installed at the intersection of Washington Boulevard and Helms Avenue in Culver City. (*Id.*)

The ATES was installed pursuant to Culver City's contract with Redflex Traffic Systems, Inc. (2 CT 280-299.) Redflex is a private vendor paid by Culver City to issue ATES citations.

2. Culver City's ATES History [Stipulated Facts]

In 1998, Culver City implemented its first intersection in their ATES enforcement program at La Cienega Boulevard and Washington Boulevard AND complied with the 30-day warning notices and public announcement requirements in Vehicle Code § 21455.5, subdivision (b). (4 CT 631.)

From 1998 to 2006, an 8-year period, Culver City added 19 different intersections into its ATES enforcement program . . . without providing the 30-day of warning notice periods and/or public announcements for any of those 19 *subsequent*, new and additional intersections.

Thereafter, in June of 2006, the intersection of Helms Avenue and Washington Boulevard was one of the 19 *subsequent* intersections that had been added to Culver City's ATES enforcement program over that 8-year period. To reiterate, at the Helms-Washington intersection's, there was a <u>stipulation</u> by Culver City that it did not provide the 30 day warning notice

and/or public announcement requirements in Vehicle Code § 21455.5(b). (4 CT 631, *supra*.)

In 2008, Petitioner was cited at the Helms Avenue and Washington Boulevard intersection pursuant to the ATES enforcement program for a violation of Vehicle Code § 21453(a). (2 CT 170.)

B. Procedural Background

1. Proceedings in the Trial Court

In response to this infraction case, Gray entered a not-guilty plea. Various pretrial hearings subsequently took place in the trial court regarding discovery-related issues that are not relevant to this appeal. With respect to the issues raised here – i.e., the inadequacy of the warning notice provided by Culver City as required by the red light camera statute – both sides submitted briefing in the trial court. (2 CT 319-323 [Gray's memorandum of law]; 4 CT 566-585 [Culver City's brief].)

The trial judge then conducted a hearing to evaluate whether Culver City complied with its statutory, 30-days of warnings and public announcement requirements. Denying Gray's motion to dismiss this case based on this issue, the trial court entered a pre-trial order. (4 CT 630-634.) The trial court found that, based on the parties' stipulation, no "notices or announcements were done specifically for the intersection at which defendant was photographed allegedly running a red light." (4 CT 631; parentheses omitted.)

The court held that if it adopted Gray's "intersection-specific interpretation, then dismissal should be granted"; whereas adoption of Culver City's program-general view would result in denial of Gray's motion to dismiss. (4 CT 631-632.)

Having adopted Culver City's view, the court denied Gray's motion to dismiss. (Id.) ⁴

Quoting from Judge Cho's February 18, 2010's trial court ruling, *supra*, [4 CT 631-632], as follows:

"If this Court adopts defendant's intersection-specific interpretation [of Vehicle Code § 21455.5(b)], then dismissal should be granted . . ."

"whereas if this Court adopts the People's programmatic interpretation, the motion should be denied."

[Parenthetical, italicized phrase and emphasis added.]

⁴ In response to the court's discussion of the parties' stipulation, Gray submitted a request to clarify the record in this regard. (4 CT 637-642.) The court subsequently issued a separate order, clarifying the record as follows: "both parties have stipulated to the following as established fact: Public announcements for the ARLES were done in 1998, for the intersection of Washington and La Cienega, and no other public announcements have been made since that time." (4 CT 649.)

The parties subsequently proceeded to trial. (4 CT 651 [listing dates].) On July 7, 2010, the court issued its judgment, finding Gray guilty. (4 CT 651-662.)

2. Proceedings in the Appellate Division

Gray appealed the trial court's decision to the appellate division of Los Angeles Superior Court on July 22, 2010. (Supplemental Clerk's Transcript ["SCT"] 36.) ⁵ The appellate division affirmed Gray's conviction by interpreting the red light camera statute to impose program-general warning requirements. *People v. Gray* (2011) 199 Cal.App.4th Supp. 10, 13-15.

Refusing to follow another published decision (*People v. Park* (2010) 187 Cal.App.4th Supp. 9), the appellate division held that proof of compliance with the warning requirement "was not part of the People's burden of proof because it was not an element of the charged crime." *Gray, supra,* 199 Cal.App.4th Supp. at 14. The appellate division also held that a violation of the warning requirement represents a non-jurisdictional defect, thus affirming Gray's conviction. *Id.* at 14-15.

//// ////

⁵ In addition to the four volumes of the clerks' transcripts, an additional volume was prepared by the court clerk and certified. The page references on this volume are not legible on the copy received by counsel; as a result, the page references used here refer to the page numbers listed on the index created by the court clerk. That index is found at the beginning of the SCT.

3. Proceedings in the Court of Appeal

The court of appeal transferred the case to itself "pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure section 911 and California Rules of Court, rule 8.1002." *People v. Gray* (2011) 204 Cal.App.4th 1041, 1046. Affirming Gray's conviction, the court of appeal held that the warning requirements imposed by the red light camera statute are program-general, not intersection specific. *Id.* at 1047-1048. The court of appeal alternatively held that "[e]ven if Culver City failed to comply with section 21455.5, subdivision (b) by not commencing the 30-day warning notice program and not making the public announcement when the ATES was used at the intersection of Washington Boulevard and Helms Avenue, that noncompliance did not require exclusion of the ATES evidence, dismissal of the citation, or acquittal." *Id.* at 1051 (capitalization omitted).

The court reasoned that proof of compliance was not an element of the offense. *Id.* at 1051-52. The court also reasoned that the legislature had not provided a remedy for the prosecuting agency's violation of the 30-days of warning notices and public announcement requirements. *Id.* at 1052.

4. Proceedings in This Court

Gray subsequently sought review in this court, identifying the issue listed above. This court granted Gray's petition for review without issuing a separate specification of issues.

//// //// //// ////

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Questions of law that do not involve the resolution of disputed facts are subject to de novo review. *Prof'l Engineers in California Gov't v. Kempton* (2007) 40 Cal.4th 1016, 1032; *Kavanaugh v. West Sonoma County Union High Sch. Dist.* (2003) 29 Cal.4th 911, 916 (where "the trial court's decision did not turn on any disputed facts," the trial court's decision "is subject to de novo review").

No factual dispute underlies the lower courts' decisions in this case. As confirmed by the trial court, there was a stipulation by Culver City that no 30-days of warning notices, nor public announcement were given for the intersection of Washington Boulevard and Helms Avenue. As the trial court noted: "both parties have stipulated to the following as established fact: Public announcements for the ARLES were done in 1998, for the intersection of Washington and La Cienega, and no other public announcements have been made since that time." (4 CT 649.)

It is also undisputed that Gray was cited for allegedly running the red light at a totally different intersection (to wit, Washington Boulevard and Helms Avenue), some 10 years later in 2008 . . . after the only warning notices and public announcement requirements by Culver City in 1998.

The only question is whether the lower courts properly interpreted the statutory 30-days of warning notice and public announcement requirements, thus triggering *de novo* review.

/	/	/	/
/	/	/	/
/	/	/	/
/	/	/	/
/	/	/	/
/	/	/	/

LEGAL DISCUSSION

I. CULVER CITY'S INTERPRETATION OF THE RED LIGHT CAMERA STATUTE SHOULD BE REJECTED BASED ON BOTH LEGISLATIVE HISTORY AND PRACTICAL REASONS.

Having failed to provide a separate warning regarding its post-1998 installation of cameras at the location where Gray was cited, Culver City has no choice than to argue that its 1998 warning should be retroactively deemed to be sufficient here. As discussed below, this argument should be rejected on multiple grounds.

A. Culver City's Arguments Are Refuted by the Legislative History of the Red Light Camera Statute.

Culver City's argument that it is only required to provide a programgeneral warning to the public before issuing citations is refuted by the legislative history of the red light camera statute. As discussed in detail in *Park, supra,* 187 Cal.App.4th Supp. 9, consistent with the red light camera statute, the parallel statutes authorizing the use of red light cameras at rail road crossings similarly use the term "system" in an intersection-specific context. *Id.* at 14 (citing § 21362.5(a).)

Moreover, the fact that the legislature, on multiple occasions, rejected amendments to the red light camera statute (section 21455.5) -- which would have adopted Culver City's program-general view -- is even more important. Several versions of the proposed amendments to the statute would have allowed prosecuting agencies to merely provide a warning period "during the first 30 days after the first recording unit is installed." (Senate Bill No.

780 (2003–2004 Reg. Sess.) § 4, as amended March 24, 2003; Senate Bill No. 780 (2003–2004 Reg. Sess.) § 11, as amended April 28, 2003; Senate Bill No. 780 (2003–2004 Reg. Sess.) § 11, as amended May 13, 2003.)

While the legislature made other changes to the statute in question during the same time period, the omission of the quoted language from the amendments enacted in that year is indicative of a legislative intention to avoid linking the 30-day warning period with a municipality's initial installation of automated enforcement equipment. See *City of Santa Cruz v. Municipal Court* (1989) 49 Cal.3d 74, 88–89 (applying this rule of statutory construction).

In fact, instead of adopting the program-general view advanced by Culver City, the legislature ultimately amended the statute through a different bill, Assembly Bill No. 1022 (2003–2004 Reg. Sess.), without such language. The Legislative Counsel's Digest concerning that bill (Stats. 2003, ch. 511) confirmed that the ATES refers to the equipment located at each intersection as follows: "Existing law requires that, at an *intersection* at which there is an automated enforcement *system* in operation, the minimum yellow light change interval be established in accordance with the Traffic Manual of the Department of Transportation." (Legis. Counsel's Dig., Assem. Bill No. 1022 (2003–2004 Reg. Sess.); emphasis added.) Judging by this language, the "system" refers to the equipment located at each intersection. Therefore, the installation of an automated enforcement system at a new intersection triggers the 30-days of warning notices and public announcement requirements imposed by section 21455.5(b).

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