Case No. S202483

NOV 1 3 2012

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

Frank A. McGuire Clerk
Deputy

#### PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff/Respondent,

VS.

#### STEVEN EDWARD GRAY,

Defendant/Appellant

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division Three 2nd Civ. No. B236337; App. Div. No. BR048502; Trial Court Case No. C165383 – Hon. Lawrence H. Cho

#### ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

William Litvak, Esq. (SBN 90533) Caroline K. Castillo, Esq. (SBN 236987) DAPEER, ROSENBLIT & LITVAK, LLP 11500 W. Olympic Boulevard, Suite 550 Los Angeles, California 90064 Phone #: (310) 477-5575 Fax #: (310) 477-7090

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

Appellant presents neither law nor fact supporting a contention that the Legislature intended that noncompliance with section 21455.5(b) be a basis to compel a judgment of acquittal or reversal. In short, had the Legislature so

intended, it would have included such language in section 21455.5 (*Gray, supra*, p. 5:3-8).

## 2. Compliance Or Noncompliance With Section 21455.5(b) Goes To The Weight Of The Evidence And Is Not Jurisdictional

It is well settled that violation of a statute does not render evidence inadmissible unless the statute so provides or there is a constitutional basis for exclusion. (Evid.Code, § 351.) "Where a statute ... does not specifically provide that evidence shall be excluded for failure to comply with said statutes and there are no constitutional issues involved, such evidence is not inadmissible. Statutory compliance or non-compliance merely goes to the weight of the evidence." (*People v. Sangani* (1994) 22 Cal.App.4th 1120, 1137). Moreover, the exclusion of relevant evidence in a criminal case is barred unless otherwise compelled by the federal Constitution. (Cal. Const., art. I, § 28, subd. (d); *People v. Williams* (2002) 28 Cal.4th 408, 415).

More particularly, noncompliance with regulations or the language of the enabling statutes such as the ATES statute does not render evidence obtained thereby inadmissible per se "unless the violation also has a constitutional dimension." (*People v. Brannon* (1973) 32 Cal.App.3d 971, 975; *People v. Adams* (1976) 59 Cal.App.3d 559).

In *Brannon*, the court of appeal held that violation of a statute requiring that a person arrested for an alcohol related offense be advised of a choice between a test of blood, breath or urine does not render the results of the test inadmissible nor does it raise a constitutional issue. (*Id.* at p. 975). As in the present case, in *Brannon*, the evidence gained by way of one statute served as evidence in prosecution of another. The court of appeal held that while compliance with the choice of tests was desirable that failure to offer a choice did not rise to the level of a constitutional deprivation of rights. (*Id.*) In turn, "absent an express statutory provision making the evidence obtained as a result of such statutory violation inadmissible, the evidence was properly admitted." (*Id.*)

Similarly, in *Adams*, in which the crime laboratory had failed to comply with the mandatory calibration procedures relative to a breathalyzer test, the court of appeal held that when a statute does not specifically provide for exclusion of evidence in the case of a failure to comply and when there are no constitutional issues involved, such evidence is admissible because noncompliance merely goes to the weight of the evidence. (*Adams, supra*, 32 Cal.App.3d at pp. 566-567.)

As detailed below, Appellant fails to establish, as in *Brannon* and *Adams*, any deprivation of constitutional rights relative to the warning notices and public announcement provisions. And, unlike speedtrap legislation providing for the inadmissibility of evidence and incompetence of witnesses testifying based on speedtrap evidence (sections, 40803(a), 40804(a), section 21455.5 contains no exclusionary rule. Accordingly, even if Appellant had proved the City's noncompliance with the provisions of section 21455.5(b), that would not render the evidence of his red light violation inadmissible nor compel a judgment of acquittal or reversal of the judgment of conviction against him.

#### III.

## NONE OF APPELLANT'S CONSTITUTIONAL ARGUMENTS SUPPORTS HIS REQUEST FOR REVERSAL OF HIS CONVICTION

## A. Appellant Has No Standing To Make A Constitutional Argument

Despite his effort to argue constitutional issues as to section 21455.5(b), Appellant is without standing to do so. In order to raise a constitutional question "the party complaining must show that his rights are injuriously affected by the portion of the law he is attacking; it must appear he is aggrieved by the operation of that particular part of the law." (*People v. Hicks* (1963) 222 Cal.App.2d 265, 270[citations omitted]). In *Hicks*, the court of appeal rejected Hicks's argument that the statute making it a crime to offer to furnish narcotics to a person and delivering a substance other than a narcotic was unconstitutionally vague because it did not require a determination of intent such and might apply to innocent

conduct. (*Id.*). The Court of Appeal stated that Hicks could not attack the law on that basis because there was no evidence that his offer to sell drugs was innocent, such that he did not fall within the category of one whose rights would have been affected by the purported vagueness of the statute. (*Ibid* at p. 270).

Here, as in *Hicks*, Appellant cannot attack section 21455.5(b) because even if the warning notices and public announcement requirements were held to be intersection-specific, Appellant would not have benefited therefrom, given that he did not receive his citation within thirty days after the June, 2006 installation of the ATES equipment at the intersection of his violation but rather two years later on November 21, 2008. (BOM, p. 9). In short, Appellant is not within the category of those whose rights were arguably affected by his purported constitutional claims relative to section 21455.5(b) and he has no standing to make any constitutional argument on that basis.

### B. Appellant's Claim That The Statute Is Void For Vagueness Is Without Merit

Appellant argues that section 21455.5(b) is void-for-vagueness and relies on a case that itself reveals the error of that assertion, *i.e.*, *Kolender v. Lawson* (1983) 461 U.S. 352, 356-357; BOM, p. 23). In fact, *Kolender* explains that "the void-for-vagueness doctrine requires that a penal statute define the criminal offense with sufficient definiteness that ordinary people can understand what conduct is prohibited and in a manner that does not encourage arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement." (*Kolender, supra,* 461 U.S. at 357[citations omitted].) There is no such issue in the present case. The City's manner of complying with section 21455.5(b) is in no way related to articulating the conduct prohibited by the red light law, *i.e.*, section 21453a. In contending otherwise, Appellant mixes apples and oranges.

In *Kolender*, an individual convicted for violating Penal Code, § 647 requiring persons loitering on the streets to provide "credible and reliable identification" to the police challenged the statute's constitutionality. (*Kolender*,

supra, 461 U.S. at 352). The Supreme Court held that the statute was unconstitutionally vague because it failed to clarify what was contemplated by the words "credible and reliable" identification. (Kolender, supra, 461 U.S. at 353). In the present case, the statute that proscribed the conduct underlying Appellant's red light violation -- section 21453a -- is crystal clear in giving notice of the conduct forbidden by that law. (see, supra, Section IIA). Appellant's claim that there was insufficient "notice" because the City gave warning notices and made a public announcement at the inception of its ATES program rather than at each intersection in no way suggests insufficient notice of the charging statute, section 21453a.

Also unavailing is Appellant's reliance on *United States v. L. Cohen Grocery Co.* (1921) 255 U.S. 81 (BOM 24) because the facts of *Cohen* are readily distinguishable from those in the present case. In *Cohen*, the United States Supreme Court held void a statute making it unlawful "to make any unjust or unreasonable rate or charge in handling or dealing in or with any necessaries," because the statute did not fix an ascertainable standard of guilt adequate to inform persons accused of violation of the nature of the accusation against them (*Id.* at p. 89) and was so indefinite as not to provide notice of what conduct was forbidden thereunder. (*Id.* at pp. 86-87, 93).

In the present case, there is no argument that section 21455.5 attempts to explain the nature of a red light violation or to provide notice of the elements of that or any other crime. The warning "notices" issued by virtue of section 21455.5(b) have nothing to do with the sort of "notice" constitutionally required to define proscribed conduct and no due process implications can be drawn from differences in construction of such an administrative provision. Drivers are not required to comply with section 21455.5(b) but they are required to comply with 21453a, the elements of which are clearly articulated therein. (see, *supra*, Section IIA).

Similarly without merit is Appellant's citing of FCC v. Fox TV Stations, Inc. (2012) 132 S. Ct. 2307 (BOM, p. 25, fn.8). In Fox TV Stations, the United States Supreme Court held that a network did not have sufficient constitutional fair notice that its broadcast could be found indecent because a prior administrative ruling of the episode had deemed its broadcast of nudity not actionably indecent. (Id. at pp. 2319-2320). As in Cohen, the failure of notice in FCC v. Fox TV Stations, Inc. involved the very elements of the violation charged and not a separate enabling statute. Accordingly, none of the cases upon which Appellant relies supports his contention that failure to comply with the warning notices and public announcement provisions of the section 21455.5(b) statute establishes any suggestion of actionable vagueness in the statute, much less one that rises to the level of a due process violation.

## 1. Conflict As To The Interpretation of An Enabling Statute Does Not Establish Constitutional Vagueness

Appellant's theory that disagreement among lower courts on the interpretation of section 21455.5(b) renders the statute unconstitutionally vague (BOM, p. 20) is both factually and legally erroneous. It hardly needs stating that a difference in statutory interpretation is endemic to our judicial system and does not provide a basis for holding a statute, *ipso facto*, vague or ambiguous. Rather, harmonizing conflicting decisions is a function of this Court. (*In re Shannon's Estate* (1965) 231 Cal.App.2d 886, 890). Moreover, the present case is the sole

Appellant's reliance on *Cohen, supra*, 255 U.S. 81, does not support his theory. In *Cohen*, as described above, the Court considered the conflicting judicial results which had arisen *vis a vis* the interpretation of the elements of the "necessaries" charging statute, finding that such conflict demonstrated that the statute was too vague to give notice of the conduct proscribed by the statute. (*Id.* at p. 90). While the Court noted that the particular efforts of other courts in published opinions to interpret the necessaries statute suggested vagueness as to that statute, it made no pronouncement that conflicting decisions mandate —as Appellant argues — a

proceeding in which the Court of Appeal has addressed section 21455.5(b). In this case, each of the three courts construing section 21455.5(b)— the trial court, the Los Angeles Superior Court Appellate Division and the Court of Appeal—agreed that that provision requires warning notices and public announcement on a programmatic rather than intersection-specific basis.

## 2. There Is No Conflict At The Court of Appeal Level As To Interpretation of Section 21455.5(b)

As noted above, the present case constitutes the sole authority at the Court of Appeal level on the issue of the section 21455.5(b) requirements, providing guidance to courts and litigants should this issue arise in the future. <sup>16</sup> Indeed, prior to the publication of *People v. Gray*, the court in *Park, supra*, 115 Cal.Rptr.3d, *supra*, conceded that "no published decision has directly addressed the meaning of subdivision (b) of section 21455.5..." (*Park, supra*, 115 Cal.Rptr.3d 339). Accordingly, even if Appellant were legally correct – and he is not — there is no factual support for his theory that dueling judicial interpretations show that section 21455.5(b) is vague or ambiguous.

Appellant's reliance on *Leonte v. ACS State and Local Solutions, Inc.* (2004) 123 Cal.App.4th 521 for the contention that Division Three of the Second Appellate District Court of Appeal has arrived at contradictory holdings relative to the question of whether section 21455.5(b) is programmatic or intersection-specific misstates the holding of *Leonte*. (BOM, p. 20). In fact, *Leonte* held only that the use of private contractors by a locality did not violate section 21455.5 because the City of West Hollywood had retained oversight and control over the vendor. (*Leonte, supra,* 123 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at 528). Notwithstanding the clarity of

finding of vagueness. (*Id.* at p. 89.) The Court made no pronouncement that conflicting decisions of courts relative to a statute would demonstrate vagueness.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> The People will request that that opinion be republished if this Court affirms that decision here.

that holding, Appellant invokes the erroneous reasoning in *Park* in an unsuccessful attempt attempts to demonstrate an internal conflict in Division Three of the Second Appellate District Court of Appeal as to the meaning of "system" in section 21455.5. In that effort, Appellant relies on the Court of Appeal's statement in Leonte that the red light camera statute permits "the use of automated traffic enforcement systems at intersections." (BOM at p. 20, quoting Leonte, supra, 123 Cal.App.4th at 526 [emphasis Appellant's]). In so observing, the court in Leonte did not intended to define "system" but was merely quoting from the initial ATES statute, noting that "[f]ormer Vehicle Code section 21455.5 (Stats.2001, ch. 496, § 1) authorized the use of automated traffic enforcement systems at intersections where drivers are required to stop." (Leonte, supra, 123 Cal.App.4th at 526). The court's referring to that language in passing and in the context of its inquiry as to what the word "operate" means in determining the legality of a city's hiring private vendors does not constitute a holding that conflicts with the determination that "system" applies to the overall ATES program and not to each intersection as Division Three held in the present case. (*Gray, supra,* 204 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at 1048).

In sum, the present case remains the only one to date decided at the Court of Appeal level with a holding relative to the issue of whether "system" refers to the equipment at an intersection or the overall ATES program. Thus, there is no conflict among courts at the court of appeal level on this issue nor any support for Appellant's assertion that conflict among courts suggests that the statute is ambiguous.

People v. Park, supra, is the only other reported case specifically deciding the section 21455.5(b) issue. As noted above, the Court of Appeal in the present case expressly disapproved the holding in Park, i.e., that section 21455.5(b) is intersection-specific. (Gray, supra, 204 Cal.App.4th at 1045). Contrary to Appellant's assertion, the fact that a lower appellate court's interpretation of section 21455.5(b) differs from that of a later, Court Appeal opinion certainly does

not in and of itself suggests that the statute is constitutionally vague or ambiguous. Indeed, such a disparity does not even rise to the level of a conflict because appellate division opinions are neither binding on either of the higher reviewing courts nor regarded as controlling in the appellate division. (Witkin, Cal. Proc. 5th (2008) Appeal, § 503, pp. 565-566).

Accordingly, Appellant's argument that purported differences in court interpretations of section 21455.5(b) renders the statute vague and ambiguous is without merit.

#### C. There Is No Merit To Appellant's Claim of Discriminatory Enforcement

To establish the defense of discriminatory enforcement, a defendant must prove: (1) that he has been deliberately singled out for prosecution on the basis of some invidious criterion'; and (2) that the prosecution would not have been pursued except for the discriminatory design of the prosecuting authorities. (Murgia v. Municipal Court (1975) 15 Cal.3d 286, 298). Here, Appellant claims that section 21455.5(b) is "potentially subject to discriminatory enforcement" (BOM, p. 23) but offers neither fact nor law to support that defense.

Simply put, none of Appellant's attempted constitutional claims, whether as to vagueness, due process or discriminatory enforcement provide any basis for reversal of his conviction.

#### IV.

# APPELLANT'S ARGUMENT THAT THE COURT LACKED JURISDICTION BECAUSE THE COMPLAINT WAS INSUFFICIENT IS WITHOUT MERIT

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